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CHRONOLOGY




The Civilisations of Ancient Peru


[image: image]


All pre-Columbian dates are subject to constant revision and debate.







      

INTRODUCTION



This book is an exercise in compressed time. Into the year described I have poured many of my feelings about Peru over the past twenty-five years, and I have likewise used it to explore five millennia of ancient Peruvian history as I travelled through the country.


The impetus for this came from my continuing investigations at the Inca site of Llactapata, near Machu Picchu, as it became increasingly difficult for me to understand the Inca mindset without a fuller understanding of the thousands of years of Andean culture that preceded the Incas.


The story therefore begins with Llactapata and the Incas before returning to the dawn of Peruvian civilisation at Caral in around 3000 BC and moving forward through the millennia up to the present day.


In a book spanning 5,000 years of Andean history, there is an inevitable concentration on the ‘summits in the range’, to the exclusion of some of the smaller civilisations. I was drawn to explore the principal and defining cultures that left enduring monuments, from the great pyramids of the coast, with their tombs and murals, to the temple-cult of Chavín, buried in the mountains, and the lines of Nasca.


There is a virtue to this broad-brush approach, in that it can help to see ancient Peru as a continuum rather than as many individual and discrete cultures. Andean culture developed in lurches and in different places across Peru, but a book such as this can give a panorama, showing how consistent the development of their way of viewing the world seems to have been, and how different it was from ours.




One problem for more serious-minded archaeologists is that ancient Peru seems to have flirted with every element of archaeology that the public most like to sensationalise and which as a consequence professionals like to downplay: human sacrifice, stargazing, wild sex, psychedelic drugs and the mummification of the dead, let alone leaving treasure concealed in pyramids. It is with some relief that archaeologists in the past averted their eyes from such tabloid behaviour and concentrated on dating the phases of a culture’s pots. Some also tried to avoid any charges of sensationalism by using peer-language of a studied dullness.


But ancient Peru was a place full of wild energies and of what in the sixties would have been called ‘alternative lifestyles’; any account of its development needs to grapple head-on with the more lurid aspects, as a new generation of archaeologists have started to do. The very illiteracy of the Andean peoples – so patronised by the Spanish conquistadors – seems to have channelled their creative energy into other forms of imaginative expression.


To help guide the reader through these different and exuberant civilisations, a chronology is included, as well as a glossary. Rather than constantly interrupt the text with footnotes, the ‘notes and references section’ indicates external sources when they have clearly been quoted from. Where a translation from the Spanish original is not listed in the bibliography, the translation used is my own.


A constant theme of the book is how recent many of the discoveries in this area have been. Ancient Peru is still playing catch-up with the other great ancient civilisations of the world and many of its monuments have only just started to yield their secrets. As one archaeologist put it to me: ‘Imagine if all the discoveries of ancient Egypt had been made so recently – the finding of Tutankhamen’s tomb, of the Great Pyramid of Cheops, of Abu Simbel – and you have some idea of the great excitement at what has been happening in Peru.’


This was one of the most inspiring elements of my journey – the sense that so much of the evidence is only now being revealed. Moreover it is only in the last few years that the first Peruvian civilisations have been dated back to around 3000 BC, far earlier than elsewhere on the continent and far earlier than had ever been conceived possible before. Peru, it now seems, was the cradle of civilisation in the Americas, just as Egypt and Mesopotamia were in the Old World.


It is terribly easy to be complacent about the state of our current knowledge, as the medieval world was before Copernicus, and to assume that we know all there is to know – whereas in certain disciplines, like archaeology, we may just be on the initial shoulder of the exponential curve upwards that lies ahead. Nowhere does this seem to be more true than in Peru, still on the fringe of the world when it comes to the study of ancient civilisations and where there are many new discoveries to be made, whether in the field or in the library.


*


My first and principal thanks go to my family for their support while we lived in Peru and during the writing of this book: Sally, Daisy, Owen and Leo.


My companions on the research expedition to Llactapata included: Ramiro Abendanio, Nicholas Asheshov, Michael Boland, Barry Bond, Raul Cobos, Greg Danforth, David Espejo, Pío Espinosa, Amy Finger, Jeff Ford, Antonia Hall, William Heath, Eddy Kruppa, Sandy LaJudice, Beth LaTulippe, John Leivers, Kim Malville, Robert Mrocek, Nathan Poole, Roz Savage, Jack Vetter and Gary Ziegler. Particular thanks go to Kim Malville and Gary Ziegler for the shared collaboration in the analysis of our research, and to John Leivers for accompanying me on journeys around Peru and through the night at Qoyllurit’i.


The expedition was supported and approved by the Royal Geographical Society, the Explorers Club and the Mount Everest Foundation. John Hemming gave advice and support in mounting the expedition. R. Tom Zuidema helped analyse the findings. Earlier investigations at Llactapata by David Drew, Johan Reinhard and indeed Hiram Bingham himself all greatly aided our work there.


Simon Sherwood, Paul White, Filip Boyen, Joanna Boyen, Laurent Carrasset and Yasmine Martin of Orient Express and PeruRail contributed greatly to the success of the expedition with their support and gift of facilities. Barry Walker, Rosario Velarde, David Guevara and the staff of Manu Expeditions showed their unrivalled expertise in organising the ground operations.


Charles Chadwyck-Healey kindly facilitated my study of the Hiram Bingham archives at Yale University. I would like to thank Rolena Adorno for showing me Bingham’s house in Yale, and Richard Burger and Lucy Salazar-Burger for assistance with maps of Llactapata and for their hospitality. Mike Jay shared with me his pre-publication thoughts on the hallucinogenic substances used at Chavín.


Many archaeologists and anthropologists were generous with their time and knowledge: Henning Bischof, David Browne, Richard Burger, Johny Isla, Josué Lancho, César Leandro, Gordon McEwan, Perci Paz, Xavier Ricard Lanata, Vince Lee, María Rostworowski de Diez Canseco, Johan Reinhard, Lucy Salazar-Burger, Ruth Shady and Charles Stanish.


I would also like to thank the librarians of the Museo Inka and the Archivo de Bartolomé de las Casas in Cuzco, of the Sterling Memorial Library at Yale and of the Royal Geographical Society in London.


Those who accompanied me on journeys around Peru included Arabella Cecil, Paul Cripps, Adrian Gallop, Simon Leishman and Carlos Rey.


It would be impossible to list all those in Peru who showed me hospitality and kindness, but Nicholas and María del Carmen Asheshov, Ken Duncan, Barry and Rosario Walker, Wendy Weeks, Michael White and Clara Bravo deserve special thanks, while Carlos and Claudia Rey made us feel that their house was indeed our home.


John Gilkes prepared the maps: the map of Machu Picchu and Llactapata incorporates elements from a previous map of Gary Ziegler’s. I am likewise obliged to Juan Manuel Castro Prieto for the welcome opportunity to include some of his black and white photographs from Perú: Viaje al Sol (Lunwerg, Barcelona, 2001).




Sections of the manuscript were read by David Browne, Fiona Cadwallader, Pedro Morales, Henry Shukman, Sarita Taylor, Patience Thomson and Wendy Weeks, to all of whom I am grateful, while of course remaining responsible for any errors.


My agent Georgina Capel and editors Francine Brody and Ion Trewin at Weidenfeld & Nicolson guided the book through to publication.











It is a curious Fact, as connected with the History of the Human species, that the Nation which gave its Laws and Civilisation to the rest of South America, should have proceeded from one of its most barren and unproductive Regions.


Joseph Barclay Pentland, unpublished report on
Peru for the British Government, 1827


If the ancestors of the people called Indians had known writing in earlier times, then the lives they lived would not have faded from view. As the mighty past of the Spanish Vira Cochas is visible until now, so too would theirs be.


The Huarochiri Manuscript,
compiled from native sources c.1598


No se puede dar puntada sin hilo. You cannot weave without thread.


Peruvian proverb


There is no Quechua word for ‘meaning’.


Quechua dictionary











CHASING HIRAM BINGHAM TO LLACTAPATA


A SINGLE DREAMLIKE IMAGE comes into focus: I am flying in a small plane through the Andes, clouds and summits peeling away to either side; the great massif of Mount Salcantay is lit up ahead in the distance above the clouds like a vignette on a Victorian postcard.


It is a landscape I know well and yet a view I have never seen, for this is the first time I have flown over the Inca heartland around Machu Picchu.


The plane is bucketing from between 15,000 feet to 17,000 feet as it swerves around the mountain ridges. We have opened the doors to use the thermal-imaging camera, and I am taking the odd hit from an oxygen bottle. The cold is intense. Perhaps it’s the altitude that’s making me hypoxic and the landscape hyper-real; nor am I used to sitting directly beside the pilot, who is called Juan. I am conscious that he is struggling with the map.


‘No sé donde estamos, I don’t know where we are,’ says Juan over my headphones.


There is a scene in Howard Hawks’s Only Angels Have Wings, set in the Andes, when Cary Grant as the pilot looks up to see a mountain wall emerge out of the clouds right in front of his nose. I have seen the film many times.


‘Maybe we should go higher,’ I murmur.


‘You can fly the plane yourself if you want to,’ offers Juan. This is not meant sarcastically. He genuinely thinks I’ll be able to find our target better, having been there once on foot.


For a moment I think I will – isn’t anything possible in South America, as Conan Doyle once remarked? – but sanity quickly returns. I have never flown a plane before. This is clearly not the moment to learn.


And then there is a break in the clouds and Mount Verónica does indeed loom up out of the clouds, looking startlingly large and close on the starboard side. Verónica is unmistakable. It is the mountain that dominates the highlands around Cuzco. Juan can put away his map.


We have hit the familiar, twisting runway of the Urubamba river; it is not long before Machu Picchu appears below. We get out our cameras like tourists, even though between us we must have spent thousands of hours at the ruins. But this is different. We are seeing the site from directly overhead, actually spiralling over it through 360 degrees, as if it was a pivot. Juan cannot resist showing off both the ruins and his piloting skills.


As Machu Picchu twists beneath us in its seemingly impossible position on a narrow saddle, the river curling right around it, I remember the Inca obsession with combining stone and water for their huacas, their shrines. The plane corkscrews and the day itself seems to have become impossible, like a video arcade game. A phrase flies through my head: ‘I have been here before – I will be here again.’


*


Gary Ziegler shook my arm urgently and I took off the headphones. With the doors open, the noise and wind in the Cessna were intense. He pointed ahead. I could see why he was worried. The distant image I had seen earlier of Mount Salcantay emerging from the clouds had now been completely blanketed by those same clouds. They were swirling in from the Amazon, covering our destination, the area where the Llactapata ruins should be.


Our thermal-imaging camera was supposed to be able to detect the difference in temperature between stone buildings, which retain heat, and vegetation, which does not. By using it, we should be able to see through the cloud-forest to any ruins below the canopy. This was the theory at least, although it was only recently that such a camera had started to be used for archaeological surveys. We thought it could be the innovative technology we needed to locate lost Inca sites, the archaeological equivalent of those X-ray specs sold in schoolboys’ comics to look through women’s skirts, but hopefully more effective.


Thermal imaging had recently been used with interesting results at Maya sites in the central American rainforest, but not here in the Peruvian Vilcabamba, so we looked forward to mining a rich new seam. But we had not reckoned on the thick cloud cover that sometimes billowed into this part of Peru from the Amazon. While the thermal-imaging camera could penetrate through the banks of cloud, the resulting information was useless without a visual reference. It didn’t make for easy flying either.


We were only able to afford this expensive infra-red equipment because Gary and I had been successful in an expedition we had led the previous year. Our expedition had made the first report of a previously unknown Inca site called Cota Coca, lying in a deep impassable river canyon. The discovery had brought interest and newspaper headlines around the world; more importantly, it had also allowed us to mount this new and better-equipped expedition to a place that had long fascinated me – Llactapata.


Llactapata was the place that had first drawn me to the Andes and the Inca heartland in 1982, as I’d described in my first book, The White Rock. Yet although we had found some ruins there, I had never been totally satisfied that we had uncovered everything. Now I had the chance to find out.


Gary was shouting in my ear as he pointed to exciting new features of the Urubamba range that could only be seen from the air. The noise from the open plane doors meant that I couldn’t hear him clearly. But I knew Gary well enough to know pretty much what he was saying anyway.


This part of the Andes is indented by the deep river canyons that fall away towards the Amazon, and it is often difficult to cross from one valley system to another in what is a compact and intransigent topography. The cloud-banks would occasionally part to give us glimpses of whole new areas that had never been properly explored: we could see rivers gleaming impossibly white, coiled lazily along the valleys with serpentine loops, and the thick vegetation that Hiram Bingham once characterised as ‘the magnificent witchery’ of the Peruvian jungle. In particular we were looking for those features of the landscape that we knew from long experience the Incas might have been drawn to, the high shoulders or cols with peaks behind them that mirrored the positions of Machu Picchu and other known Inca sites.


Now Gary was mouthing things like ‘that looks a good ridge to climb some day’, to which my characteristic response was to nod and hope we didn’t ever put it to the test, as even from the air I could see some murderous vegetation on the way up.


Gary turned from his binoculars to synchronise his wristwatch against the digital and infra-red cameras. He loved all the technology. It was he who had first suggested we use the infra-red equipment from his experience of using it in Vietnam during aerial reconnaissance at night from a light plane. After serving in Vietnam, Gary had retreated to Colorado and the most remote horse ranch he could find, where he had got an old-timer to teach him the ways. Now he was a cowboy from his Custer hat down to the tips of his riding boots. But anyone who pandered to this preconception and assumed that Gary was some hick from the sticks (and the stuffier archaeologists often did this) would be brought up short by his erudition and knowledge. One of the things I valued most in my friendship with Gary was his infinite capacity to surprise.


The eminent Peruvian archaeologist Jorge Muelle had supervised Gary’s doctoral work in Lima in the 1960s. Since then he had covered more of the Vilcabamba on foot than just about any serious investigator, and had put his training in both archaeology and geology to good effect in his interpretative work on sites.


Moreover, although Gary was certainly cut out as an action hero, he was more of a James Stewart than a John Wayne; tall and laconic, he had a slow drawl that could disarm the occasional frustrations of his colleagues when his disconcerting leaps of faith catapulted them into places they hadn’t necessarily intended to go.


On the face of it we were polar opposites, different in age, nationality and background; far from serving in the army, I’d never shot a rifle in anger and was ambivalent about horses, in that I liked them to walk, not run. Yet as Amy Finger, Gary’s loyal partner in both the ranch and his life, often commented, we were good for one another; while Gary prompted me to try the unexpected, I was sometimes able to focus our ambitions in achievable directions. And having led several expeditions together, we trusted each other totally.


Right now, I felt we might have bitten more off than we could manage. Gary’s face was white from the cold. John Leivers and Kim Malville were behind us in the aircraft body, battling to get clear test shots with the infra-red camera out of the open plane door. I had an earful of static from the intercom. Juan and his copilot were pointing ahead. The clouds were resolutely not parting over Llactapata. They clung to the 20,000-foot peak of Salcantay at the hub of this particular mountain area. I remembered Elizabeth Bishop’s lines:




the pressure of so many clouds on the mountaintops
 makes them spill over the sides in soft slow-motion,
 turning to waterfalls under our very eyes.





Mount Salcantay’s northern ridge ran down between two valleys: the deep Santa Teresa valley and the shallower and shorter Aobamba valley. The sharp serrated edge of the ridge just poked through the cloud bank, like a fish breaking the surface. It was a beautiful sight but also a bitterly frustrating one. There was nothing we could do. The plane circled up and down the two valleys and the ridge between them for as long as we dared, willing the clouds to part over the slope where we knew Llactapata lay. Indeed, we circled so many times that the locals below thought we were federales looking for coca or marijuana plantations.


John and Kim were trying to film out of the open door as the plane banked, and then playing back the data immediately to see whether we were getting any thermal-imaging readings. The thermal-imaging camera was small – about the size of a camcorder. It would obviously need more time back at base to analyse its findings fully; at least digital playback allowed instant access of the grainy black-and-white images, although as John commented in an understated, Australian way, ‘It’s a little difficult to work out where you are.’


I had a mental image of the camera printing out a neat graphic plan of an Inca settlement – a plaza, or perhaps some kallanka grouped around a courtyard – with the blurred lines and cross-hairs of similar images from the Gulf War. The news had been full of such disturbing images when we left home, with a plane’s infra-red system locking onto a target. Coming to Peru had been a welcome escape from such visions of Iraq, although even here the war had pursued us. Our infra-red equipment had been classified as military hardware and needed a special licence to bring it from the States; the idea that it was being used to look for Inca ruins had met with scepticism from the State Department.


The flights were costing a daunting $1,000 an hour and even with the backing of a film company, which wanted additional documentary footage from the plane, we had to be disciplined in our use of time. This was already the second day we had been up in the air; the previous day had been worse for cloud cover. The problem was that we needed to film after some hours of sunlight, so that the buildings would be warm enough to register on the infra-red camera – yet before the afternoon cloud cover rolled in. This window of opportunity was a frustratingly narrow one.


The resulting costs of all the delay were causing tension in the plane. It was not an easy working environment. With the plane doors off in order to film, the cold, noise and turbulence were bone-crunching. Our infra-red team, John and Kim, jostled around the open Cessna door with the cameraman who was filming us at work. Trying to relay and translate instructions between the various camera crews and the pilots – a job that fell to me – was frustrating. At times both Gary and I found the multimedia technological environment all too much, certainly for the concentrated work we wanted to achieve.


At some point in the flight, the glass in my watch had shattered against a hatch, so I was reliant on the instrument panel for our flight time as well as our altitude. When I saw that we were already running into the red on the flight time, I consulted with Gary. He shouted against the wind, inches from my face: ‘It looks like we may be screwed.’ It was pointless – and expensive – to carry on, so after one final turn around the still-clouded site, we admitted defeat and started to fly back.


As the plane began its precarious descent to the mountain bowl of Cuzco, it seemed we were returning empty-handed. It would take time to analyse the infra-red video footage, yet given the flying conditions and the cloud cover, I couldn’t believe we would be able to glean much new information from it. The expensive ‘toys for boys’ technology had failed.


So to find anything we would have to go to Llactapata on foot, clearing our way with machetes in the way we were used to from previous expeditions and as indeed I’d gone there first, twenty years before. However, I wasn’t dispirited; in fact I felt almost a perverse relief that modern technology hadn’t made such work on the ground obsolete, as I enjoyed it.


More than this, I knew we had a secret weapon with us, a precious piece of information I had coaxed from the archives at Yale University, which meant that even if the thermal imaging proved completely useless, there was a good chance we would still find what we were looking for.


*


It was the American explorer Hiram Bingham who had taken me to Yale. Indeed, it was Bingham who had first enticed me to Llactapata and Peru.


Hiram Bingham might be best known for his discovery of Machu Picchu in 1911, but he had also located a whole range of other Inca sites throughout the Peruvian Vilcabamba. Following in his footsteps, I had been there in 1982 with a small team that I had brought out from England to help relocate one such site which he had described and yet which no one seemed to have seen since. We had joined up with an energetic and capable archaeologist called David Drew, who was working with the local Cusichaca Project and had led us to the site. Since writing The White Rock about that first visit, I had also written an introduction to a new edition of Lost City of the Incas, Bingham’s account of his findings at Machu Picchu. For this I had reread all Bingham’s other available books and articles.


In doing so, I had become interested in a conundrum. The site-plan that Bingham had left of Llactapata, while of a similar size to the ‘Llactapata’ we had found in 1982 on precisely the same hillside, and in the right area, did not correspond exactly to ours. At the time I had put this down to a certain carelessness in Bingham’s drafting. I was used to archaeologists endlessly patronising him as they are inclined to do when anyone is not an official member of their guild; his interpretation of Machu Picchu had also been criticised, so it was easy to think of him as an unreliable witness. I knew that Bingham had spent very little time there in 1912 – he was, after all, in the middle of excavating at Machu Picchu near by. And the site we had found shared many features with his and was the right size.


However, now that I had read more of his work and recognised how careful and conscientious most of his draughtsmanship was, it seemed even more remarkable that he would have got such details wrong.


Perhaps, I thought, the secret lay in his unpublished journals, which were kept in an archive at Yale.


*


I had never been to Yale before. Standing in front of the extremely large house that Hiram Bingham had once owned on Prospect Street, one could immediately see why he had caused such envy in his academic colleagues. Here was a tall, good-looking assistant professor who seemed to be permanently away on sabbaticals in South America and who became a media celebrity on finding Machu Picchu. Moreover he married a Tiffany heiress – hence the large house. Add to this considerable academic and political ambition, lightly concealed with a certain arrogance of demeanour, and one could understand why he was eventually cold-shouldered out of Yale, to become a senator instead. Even the Senate found him too much and he was eventually impeached.


Still, Yale had since recognised his achievements – and his loyalty in exporting most of the finds from Machu Picchu back to his alma mater, much to the legitimate annoyance of Peruvians. Most of those finds had been lying in cardboard boxes ever since, but now the Peabody Museum had a committed Andeanist as its director, Richard Burger, who together with his wife Lucy was mounting a major exhibition of all Bingham’s takings from Machu Picchu.


I was lucky to arrive when I did. Richard’s interest in the area meant that he could advise me on the complicated procedures for accessing the various Bingham holdings. He also led me to a dusty basement cupboard at the back of the Peabody where Bingham’s old photographs were kept. He had been an assiduous and talented photographer; 12,000 prints had survived from his various Peruvian expeditions.


The room was not prepossessing. Hot-water pipes ran overhead, hardly ideal for conservation. It was more like a walk-in cupboard than an archive. The photos were kept in old metal filing cabinets that looked as if they had been removed bodily from Bingham’s study on his death and hardly glanced at again, for there had been little interest in him since. Aside from a memoir by Alfred Bingham, which combined the rigour of a lawyer with the jaundice of a disaffected son, no one had written the biography of a man who could lay claim to being the greatest American explorer of the twentieth century.


It was a curious feeling to be sitting in this forgotten basement with an explorer’s lifetime’s work around me. Flicking through the dusty large-format panoramic pictures stacked on the filing cabinet because they wouldn’t fit in, I was struck by how poetic some of the images were: cattle bathing in a highland lake; the high passes towards Anta; Quechua women weaving by their huts. Bingham was never just an archaeologist, and all the better for it.


His actual pictures of Machu Picchu and other sites were masterfully composed, some using the difficult Kodak Panoram Camera, with its ultra-wide aspect ratio. There were file after file of contact prints, numbered and dated. But the few shots he took of Llactapata seemed uncharacteristically rushed and partial: he seemed more interested in photographing his tent than the ruins, which was a bad sign.


Richard kindly also found the original sketch maps of Llactapata that Bingham had drawn on for later publication – there were a few additional details, but nothing remarkable. However, it transpired that the Sterling Memorial Library near by still had all Bingham’s original field notebooks. Once I had been frisked for sharp objects and had surrendered all writing implements other than a pencil, I was allowed in to see them.


Naturally I turned first to his entry for discovering Machu Picchu on 24 July 1911. His handwriting was terrible, but it was an intoxicating feeling to hold Bingham’s journal in my hands, with his excited scrawl: ‘more ruins – even finer than Choquequirao.’


Then I turned to his description of finding Llactapata. To my surprise it was extensive, far more so than in his books. And as I read, I began to realise why Bingham had published so little on its discovery, for he was not a man who liked to dwell on his failures.


Bingham’s journal records that on 1 August 1912 he left Huadquiña, the hacienda of the local landowner, at 7.30 in the morning and arrived at ‘Surirai’ at 9.00. The modern hamlet of Suriray lies in the Santa Teresa valley, so Bingham had clearly decided to approach the Aobamba/Santa Teresa ridge from that side.


At Suriray he scribbled hastily in his notebook: ‘men here speak of ruins: Llactapata ruins; Cochapata – laguna [lake]; Mishihuanca – lugar [a place]; Palcai – old pueblo [settlement]; Pampacahuana – best ruins of all.’


By 9.30 he had reached a hut 600 feet above Suriray, noting that ‘quite a little coffee’ was being grown in the smallholdings he passed. By 12.00, after a hard climb, he reached a clearing at the top of the ridge and met Marcello Añanca ‘who lives at Llactapata’ (there is still a smallholding on the top of the ridge today). By 12.35, presumably having descended over the ridge, he saw the ruins which ‘lie at 9100 ft, i.e. 1100 ft higher than MP [Machu Picchu]’.


He remarked on ‘the wonderful view’ and that the snow peak of Salcantay was visible. He spent the afternoon looking at the ruins, but determined to press on to the other sites he had been told about previously at Suriray.


So the next day, 2 August, he rose at 5.40, noting that the clouds were rising rapidly from below and that Machu Picchu was already hidden in the distance. At 7.45 the sun burnt off the clouds and he left Llactapata at 8.05, never to return. He pressed on rapidly up the valley to the site of Palcay, which lies at the head of the Aobamba valley. He had spent just five daylight hours at Llactapata.


One might well wonder why Bingham did not spend more time examining a previously unreported site, but the journal made clear that he was handicapped in having a most unwilling team with him: three muleteers who had been pressed into service by a local landowner as a service to Bingham and who clearly did not want to be there. He spends far more time lamenting their deficiencies than describing the ruins themselves. Later in the same journey they deserted him.


He also had an atrocious journey. The cloud-forest vegetation is still extremely thick around Llactapata. An earlier team led by Bingham’s assistant Kenneth Heald had attempted to head up the Aobamba valley, but had met with ‘almost insuperable difficulty’, as ‘the jungle was so dense as to be almost impassable. There was no trail and the trees were so large and the foliage so dense that observations were impossible even after the trail had been cut.’ Heald’s team were further discouraged when an arriero was almost bitten by a poisonous snake.


Bingham arrived at Llactapata by an even more difficult route, up the steep-sided Santa Teresa valley. His handwriting seems to get even worse over this journey as he suffered from the worst the Andes could throw at him. At one point his only strong mule had fallen backwards, injuring herself, and her cargo had to be carried by the hostile porters (Bingham did not record their reaction to this additional load).


His decision to move on rapidly is also of a piece with his previous actions when he had first seen Machu Picchu the year before, in 1911; again he had spent just a few hours at the site before heading on rapidly to his next objective. Only later did he send a team back to clear the ruins. A certain impatience was characteristic of the man.


Bingham published very little on Llactapata. A few comments in Lost City of the Incas, written in 1948 towards the end of his life, described it as ‘Llactapata, the ruins of an Inca castle’. He added: ‘We found evidence that some Inca chieftain had built his castle here and had included in the plan ten or a dozen buildings’; ‘it may well have been built by one of Manco’s captains. It was on a strategic spot.’


In an earlier National Geographic piece of 1913, he had written of his regrets at not doing more investigation there, commenting:




‘It would be interesting to excavate for three or four weeks and get sufficient evidence in the way of shreds and artifacts to show just what connection the people who built and occupied this mountain stronghold had to the other occupants of the valley.’





Yet his half-hearted and incomplete description of Llactapata gave little incentive to later expeditions to do just that and follow him. From the journals it was clear that he was suffering from ‘explorer’s fatigue’: a combination of loneliness, difficult muleteers, difficult territory and perhaps a certain feeling of ‘not another bloody ruin’.


Buried in this catalogue of woes was one detail that almost made me whoop aloud in the staid confines of the Yale Sterling Memorial Library. For beside the sketch-map of the ruins he had found, Bingham had jotted down some compass bearings for ‘his’ Llactapata:




Machu Picchu Heights [Mount Machu Picchu] 67°.


Huaina Picchu Heights [Mount Huaynu Picchu] 45°


Machu Picchu sacred plaza bears 52°





These compass bearings had never been published. They were different from the bearings for the ruins I had seen in 1982. Bingham had given an exact triangulation point which, allowing for a small offset due to changes in magnetic north over time, should allow us to relocate the sector.


I felt like Long John Silver being given the map to Treasure Island. It was this which more than anything else made me want to return to Llactapata and make sense of a mystery that had puzzled me for twenty years. Regardless of whether the thermal imaging worked (and it could be argued this was a redundant ‘belt and braces’ approach), we should now be able to relocate ‘Bingham’s Llactapata’, and establish clearly quite how extensive the site was.


For this was my other great excitement. It was not just a case of Bingham having found the ‘right’ Llactapata, and our having found a ‘wrong’ one in 1982. We were clearly talking about a much more extensive site than had ever been realised, of multiple sectors.


Gary Ziegler had come across another account of the area near Llactapata by Johan Reinhard, the celebrated discoverer of the so-called ‘ice mummies’ left on mountain peaks by the Incas as sacrifices. He had passed by in 1985 while investigating an Inca trail along the northern ridge of Mount Salcantay, the same trail that Bingham had taken when he left the ruins. While Reinhard did not try to investigate the main site at Llactapata, thinking that it had already been reported, he did say that he had come across a different and substantial building on the ridge-line above, at 9,960 feet: ‘the ruins of a large structure or series of structures that have a nice view towards Machu Picchu’. Reinhard mapped the building.


So Llactapata was a puzzling site, in that each of the very few explorers who had been there seemed to bring back a different description and map of what should by all rights have been the same place. My growing suspicion was that we might be dealing with a far larger site than anybody had ever realised, and that previous explorers had each found a part of a much greater whole, like the Sufi parable in which three blind men hold the legs, tail and trunk of an elephant but fail to realise that it is the same animal.


The only way to prove this was to return with a large and thorough expedition that could examine the whole hillside.


*


So I felt remarkably relaxed when after hours of looking through the thermal-imaging footage back in Cuzco, we concluded that there was nothing there we didn’t already know. I was helped in this unusual mental calm by one signal advantage. I was staying in the five-star Hotel Monasterio.


Previous visits to Cuzco had been on my own account and consequently in the cheapest place that had clean sheets, with hot water at the landlady’s whim. But Simon Sherwood, the boss of Orient Express and a man with a keen awareness of the Andes from his early days trekking there with a backpack, had taken a personal interest in our expedition. One welcome by-product of this was a ‘gold access-all-areas card’ giving help right across the Orient Express empire. And in Peru, it really was an empire. The company had bought hotels in Cuzco, Machu Picchu, Lima and the complete train-set to go with it: both the famous old railway to Machu Picchu and the longer line over to Lake Titicaca. The Hotel Monasterio in Cuzco was the jewel in their crown, a restored seventeenth-century monastery with magnificent rooms set around cloisters.


Having just arrived, there had only been a short while to get used to the opulence. But I could see it was a taste I could rapidly –and dangerously – acquire. I had already spent a strange time staying at their equally five-star hotel in Lima after the flight from Europe. Arriving with my usual dirty backpack and trekking clothes for the cloud-forest, the exquisitely polite desk-staff had taken it on the chin and ushered me to what was described as ‘The Presidential Suite’ on the top floor of the hotel.


‘But doesn’t the president live in Lima anyway?’ I had asked the bellboy as we ascended in the capacious and eerily silent lift.


‘It’s for all the other presidents,’ he said.


A series of rooms with impossibly ornate Louis XV furniture opened onto a balcony with its private pool; there was a view down to the Pacific breakers below. The plane had arrived at night, and now all I could see was the waves breaking phosphorescent on Lima’s ragged coastline.


Inside the suite were a bed and jacuzzi so large they could have accommodated a rock band complete with groupies. There seemed to be two bathrooms. Already feeling that I had betrayed my lack of worldly, let alone presidential, experience (and worrying what size tip was appropriate for such a prestigious suite) I asked why.




‘One bathroom is for the president himself. The other is for his funcionarios, his staff.’


Of course. Resisting the temptation to ring room-service for cocaine and call-girls, I sank into a dreamless and air-conditioned sleep under a blanket heavy with embroidery.


And now in Cuzco I had an equally presidential suite and even a courtyard to myself. Just in case hubris followed, it seemed that mosquitoes had no respect for ‘gold card’ status. I’d been bitten more in luxury than I had ever been in the usual so-called ‘fleapit’ hotels. Perhaps Mick Jagger had experienced the same problem when he’d passed this way on one of the Peruvian adventures the Stones had occasionally indulged in.


Gary, Kim, John and I discussed our thermal-imaging findings from the flight. We had still not given up on the new camera. One problem was getting a stable enough platform from which to use it. Unfortunately there were no helicopters available in the area, which would have been far better than fixed-wing aircraft. The only previously operational helicopter company had been forced to close its exclusive commercial run to Machu Picchu; the locals had burnt the helicopter pad, on the grounds that if tourists (worse, very rich tourists) flew direct into Machu Picchu they would miss the enticing display of local handicrafts available when they came by train.


There was a good sight-line to Llactapata from Huayna Picchu, the peak above Machu Picchu, so we decided to go there and take more thermal-imaging readings from a fixed ground position. This had another signal advantage. It meant I could stay at the last of the three luxury Orient Express hotels, right by the ruins themselves, which had been built on the site Bingham had first used for his camp when he excavated at Machu Picchu; it now retailed at $500 a night.


*


‘You guys are really something,’ said Mike. Mike was the Canadian cameraman accompanying the expedition. His comments were only partly induced by appreciation of our collective skills. The fact that along the bar were lined up representative shots of every type of flavoured pisco helped; it looked like an alchemist’s counter, with phials of clear, ochre and turquoise liquor, some containing floating herbs. The comparative tasting was going down a storm.


It had been arranged by Patricio, the engaging Italian manager of the Orient Express Machu Picchu hotel; on the strength of one evening’s pisco tasting and a stay in his exclusive hotel we now rated him as a lifelong friend. We had already had a good day climbing Huayna Picchu, and even though, again, the thermal-imaging camera had not delivered what it said on the packet, it had at least given us a much clearer view of the Llactapata hillside.


This had also allowed me to see Machu Picchu afresh after the revelations of the recent epoch-making Yale exhibition, which had re-presented Bingham’s 1912 findings to the world. One of the surprises of that show had been how playful were many of the artifacts recovered from Machu Picchu: musicians’ instruments; beautiful plates with birds’ heads for handles; another pair with butterflies; even a set of ceramic dice. People always approached Machu Picchu with such reverence – indeed over-reverence – that it was easy to forget that this was a place of pleasure, a royal estate. All too often archaeology sieved the playfulness out of daily life; what survived in the middens was the utilitarian and the prosaic. But Bingham’s rich haul at Yale was a testament to the growing argument that Machu Picchu was not primarily a sacred centre, but a more secular and courtly retreat for the Inca emperor and his retinue away from the cares of state.


The Yale exhibition had been accompanied by the publication of a range of scholarly papers re-examining Bingham’s findings with modern scientific techniques. Looking out over the empty buildings, I tried to imagine them as the cosmopolitan hive of activity that this recent scientific work showed they must have been. The analysis of the bone chemistry from burials showed that the population was an exceptionally diverse one, drawn from all over Peru, both coast and mountains, not just from the local population around Cuzco. The metalwork and jewellery were equally diverse, a showcase of styles and indeed of materials: obsidian from near Ayacucho, tin from the far south in what is present-day Bolivia and pottery from right across their realm.


We like to think of such ancient sites as being ‘authentic’ homogenous examples of just one culture – and of Machu Picchu as a showcase for the classic ‘pure Inca’ style – but in its heyday it would have been as cluttered with foreign objects as any department store in London or New York.


The food consumed would probably have been equally wide-ranging. Bingham was relatively uninterested in what types of animal remains he came across – he was more interested in human ones – but he did at least keep them. Modern osteologists have looked at these faunal remains and shown that a wide range of meat was consumed, from the familiar alpaca to more exotic wild deer and even an agouti, the large tailless rodent from the jungle, where it is still eaten by tribespeople as a delicacy. Guinea pig, famously the most sought-after delicacy for Andean Indians today, seems also to have been consumed, although it leaves such tiny bones that it is harder to find and analyse them.


The slender terraces to either side of Machu Picchu were used to grow exotic vegetables, similar to courgettes and peppers; other terraces might have contained ornamental flowers. More substantial food, like maize, the staple diet of the Andes, could have been brought over the hills from ‘worker colonies’ placed discreetly out of royal eyesight up the valley.


I had an image of a small, courtly community of less than a thousand people, who came seasonally and for pleasure – much as modern tourists do. As the sun slowly left the ruins, I followed it to the far side of the Sacred Plaza and watched it sink over the Llactapata slope, directly to the west. Earlier that day we had scanned that same Llactapata slope obsessively (and fruitlessly) with the thermal-imaging camera. Now I allowed myself a more leisurely scan with simple binoculars. I could clearly see the little pampa at 9,000 feet where we planned to camp, and I knew that not far above it were the ruins I had seen in 1982. ‘Bingham’s Llactapata’ was somewhere above that, although even with the perspective of distance it was a dauntingly large area of forested hillside to comb. Still, his compass bearings gave a triangulation point at an altitude of some 300 feet above the lower site. I tried to get an approximation of it through the glasses, but it seemed to be where the vegetation was heaviest.


I noticed for the first time a semi-circular protrusion in the wall to the west of Machu Picchu’s Sacred Plaza, which looked like a mirador, a deliberate ‘viewing platform’ from which to admire Llactapata and the setting sun. One of the most fascinating developments in Inca studies over the last few years had been the interest in the new discipline of ‘archaeo-astronomy’, which had focussed with considerable rigour on how the Incas observed the stars. One result had been a greater interest in the alignment of sites, both to the stars and to huacas, the shrines that spread out in complex spiritual patterns from Cuzco, the centre of the Inca dominions. Although not referring to Llactapata, Johan Reinhard had shown how carefully aligned on sacred peaks many of the buildings around Machu Picchu were – so this viewing platform was likely to have been for a purpose.


Above the Sacred Plaza, on the Intihuatana Hill, a woman in white was looking out over the empty city, rising and falling on the balls of her feet, as if letting the moment fill her. Machu Picchu drew many such spiritual pilgrims here. Indeed, it was a place that brought me considerable calm myself yet I had always been cautious about the dangers of transferring the spiritual feelings of many visitors on seeing Machu Picchu into an assumption that the Incas might have felt the same way. The whole move in recent archaeological thinking had been to reposition it as a more secular site.


That said, one detail in the Yale exhibition had particularly moved and intrigued me: the discovery by the Main Gate of a set of plain obsidian pebbles. These pebbles were natural and had not been worked in any way, unlike the obsidian tools found scattered elsewhere in Machu Picchu. Hiram Bingham’s expedition had found them near the Main Gate in a cluster of thirty, as if deliberately placed together. Bingham had been so puzzled by this find that he had speculated they might be the chance result of a meteorite shower.


Obsidian is a rare commodity in the Andes; there is no source for it close to Cuzco. By using instrumental neutron activation and X-ray fluorescence, researchers had discovered that the pebbles came from a distant site some 250 miles from Cuzco, an obsidian flow in the Colca valley, near Arequipa. Jay Ague, a geologist at Yale, had gone further; he had shown that they were in fact river pebbles, small bits of obsidian that had been collected from the Colca river and had then been brought all the way to Machu Picchu. The river had washed them into natural, rounded shapes. As Ague pointed out, it would have been very easy to get larger, more impressive pieces of obsidian from deposits on the dry land near by. A decision had clearly been made to bring such river pebbles, bits of obsidian worked by water, and place them by the gate at Machu Picchu. Just as when I had circled over the ruin in a plane a few days before, it was a reminder of the intimate and intuitive connections the Incas made between water and stone.


And now I was lining up shots of pisco along the bar of the Orient Express hotel with the Canadian film crew and Patricio. The end of a perfect day. ‘Try the uña de gato, the “nail of the cat”,’ suggested Patricio. ‘It’s superb.’


After downing his, Mike picked up where he’d left off: ‘You guys are really something. You set off through the jungle, swing a machete and “wham, bam, thank you, ma’am”, you’ve found a lost city!’


I winced. This was the first time Mike had been with us on an expedition, so he still harboured the illusion that there was some glamour attached. But he was also reminding me of the problems we had experienced with the media when our previous discoveries had been reported. Every sub-editor in the land had reached for a ‘LOST CITY’ headline, with an aside about ‘real-life Indiana Jones’ in the text. This would have been laughable if a few of the more po-faced archaeologists had not then used this as evidence of our lack of serious intent. Some of them were still inclined to the view that any such report of an Inca site should only be published in decent obscurity at the back of some little-read journal.




But along with Gary Ziegler, I had always disliked the elitism of the academic library; if we did find anything at Llactapata, while certainly writing a detailed specialist report for an academic magazine, we wanted to reach a wider audience as well. This was precisely what Hiram Bingham had done when he found Machu Picchu, publishing a scholarly account in a limited edition, Machu Picchu: A Citadel of the Incas, but also writing journalistic articles in National Geographic Magazine and his more populist account of the discovery for Lost City of the Incas.


The Yale exhibition had seen a substantial re-evaluation of Bingham’s reputation. Once derided for not having brought an archaeologist along with him on his expedition, Richard Burger now praised him in the exhibition catalogue because of his multi-disciplinary approach, for while Bingham did not include an archaeologist in his team, he brought experts in many other fields – geologists, geographers and naturalists. Burger saw Bingham as foreshadowing today’s equally multi-disciplinary approach, unlike the other more narrowly specialist archaeological investigations of his day.


I hoped that with Llactapata we would be able to build on the work Bingham had done there – and his expectation that there was more to find. And I also hoped, for his sake and mine, that those coordinates he had put down in his notebook had been right.


*


In a childish way, I’ve always wanted to catch a moving train. The next day I had the opportunity – indeed, necessity – to do so.


I’d spent the morning filming with the Canadian crew up at Machu Picchu, as they’d wanted the city lit up at dawn behind me as they did the interview. Unfortunately the city had been obscured with more of the cloud cover that had so frustrated us earlier with the thermal-imaging camera, and they had to make do with me emerging out of the mist, like some extra from Highlander. Nor, after the pisco-tasting the night before, were we all thinking lucidly.


‘Maybe,’ said Mike, ‘you could, sort of, wave at the ruins behind you and ask the viewer to imagine the city behind the clouds?’ It didn’t work. We waited for the clouds to clear. We waited too long.


By the time I got back down to Aguas Calientes and the train line, our ‘Tren Especial’ arranged by Orient Express had just left. The film crew were catching up with us later, so I was on my own. The train was still moving through the built-up section of town and had not gathered much speed, although it had attracted crowds of onlookers curious as to why it was going the wrong way, for it was heading downriver, along a stretch of railway line seldom used since a disastrous landslide some years before had washed away the track to which it connected.


Already out of breath from running, I pushed through the crowd and, to the surprise of the onlookers (one of whom let out an ironic ‘¡Olé!’), launched myself onto the backplate, landing if not elegantly at least without dropping my pack. I rolled on unsteady legs into the carriage.


The sight that met my eyes was surreal. The only train that Orient Express had been able to loan us was the luxury coach being prepared for the inauguration of the new ‘Hiram Bingham Express’, an exclusive $150 round ticket to Machu Picchu, which included dinner on the train and all the opulence that Orient Express could provide: white linen tablecloths, comfortable club chairs, waiters in livery. And sitting among all this splendour were our motley group of hairy-arsed explorers, looking decidedly out of place.


There is something about a backpack that is inimical to style. Not for nothing were the cheapest sections of the other trains sold euphemistically as the ‘backpacker’ sections (that is, ‘steerage’). And their owners in trekking gear and boots just lowered the tone further. Much as Oblonsky in Anna Karenina would not have been seen dead hunting in anything but his oldest and most worn clothing, so our team prided themselves on wearing clothes that had seen the world and were still covered in it.


The only person who seemed to the manner born was Nicholas Asheshov, the partially sighted British explorer, who was sipping the courtesy champagne and wearing a jaunty silk scarf knotted around his neck. Nick was a veteran of many such expeditions since his first in 1962 for National Geographic, and had spent a lifetime buccaneering around the South American continent, chasing either wars or business opportunities. He had lived in Peru for years.


He was holding forth with some vehemence on the absent Peter Frost, or ‘Peter-von-bloody-Frost’ as he called him, another explorer working in this area about whom Nick had strong views (the whole exploring and archaeological world was a minefield of animosities).


‘Ah, is that you, Hugh?’ Nick interrupted himself as he peered towards me. ‘So you decided to join us after all?’


Nick had refused to let the degeneration of his vision, caused by a macular condition, prevent him from accompanying our various research trips. The previous year he had ridden with Gary and me for five days to get to the remote and hidden site of Cota Coca, with his horse led by a trusted helper. As an ex-journalist, he had a nose for getting to the heart of the matter when it came to archaeological investigation. Now he hardly let me get my breath back before buttonholing me: ‘So this is the story. Bingham found one bit of this ruin ninety years ago. Then you were part of the team that found another bit twenty years ago. Now you want to find Bingham’s bit properly, having cocked up the first time, and put them both together with anything else that’s up there. I’m not sure what the hell any sub-editor will make of it for a headline, but I can see the point.’


I was having champagne as well. Any twinge of guilt at all this luxury was quickly alleviated by the thought that we were going to be living under canvas, with mosquitoes and mules our main companions. And Bingham would have approved – he had taken luxury hampers with him on his journeys into the Vilcabamba.


It wasn’t long before we reached the end of the line, a literal petering out of the track, like a Buster Keaton movie where you can’t progress further until you put down more rails. Chickens were picking their way over the remaining sleepers. Huayno music played from the scattering of shacks selling fruit and vegetables to the villagers who came up the valley to the railhead. They watched idly as we began the laborious business of transferring all our belongings to the bridge at the Aobamba river and the mules that were waiting for us on the other side. One plump señora was waving the flies away from her fruit with an Eminem baseball cap. A few kids played ring-a-ring-a-roses to the music.


While the others started off towards Llactapata, I took Kim Malville to show him the small Intihuatana site, which lay a little way back along the railway line. I hadn’t talked much to Kim before the expedition. We had asked him to join us because of his experience in archaeo-astronomy. Now in his sixties, he had enjoyed a long and successful academic career as a professor at Colorado University, with a particular interest in how astronomy and mythology had combined to create the ‘sacred landscapes’ of Egypt and Tibet; he had set up a foundation to help the Dalai Lama’s exiled Buddhist community at Dharamshala. With a shock of white hair, dark glasses and a black polo neck, Kim looked like a veteran Californian rock-star who had built a recording studio in Colorado and didn’t need to try too hard.


The Intihuatana was so little visited that it took me a while to find again. This was embarrassing as I felt Kim would think me an unreliable guide. Lying just off the railway track, between the lines and the Urubamba river, it was unsignposted and unloved, with litter, overgrown vegetation and all the signs of neglect.


Yet this was a fine and substantial piece of pre-Columbian stone sculpture, carefully placed as the Incas positioned all such sculptures to harmonise with the setting by the river, again with that potent combination of rock and water they liked so much. The largest piece of rock had been partially worked and sculpted, the rest left natural, as was their practice – near by were other carved steps and niches.


I had brought Kim here for a reason. The previous year I had visited the Intihuatana and had been struck by its very precise position due west of Machu Picchu and due east of the highest-known sector at Llactapata, a small two-storeyed temple-building on the top of the ridge, with a distinctive tree growing beside it. I had just carried a compass with me. Now I wanted Kim to confirm my hunch and take more accurate readings with his inclinometer and more sophisticated instruments.


I realised as I did so that this was a significant departure for me. I had always resisted any over-mystical interpretation of the Incas. It smacked not just of New Age credulity, but of a desperation to credit the Incas with spiritual insights we might ourselves have lost. But recent work on what scholars sometimes described as the ‘sacred landscape’ of the Incas had been so persuasive and illuminating that I felt it was time to put away such prejudices and approach the subject with an open if rigorous objectivity. And given that Kim confirmed that the Intihuatana lay on a direct east–west line between the two sites, it could hardly be coincidence.


From the Intihuatana we also had a clear view of the path that ran south from Machu Picchu across a sheer rock face. The most celebrated feature of this path was that it contained a ‘drawbridge’, a point at which the Incas placed removable logs so that they could deny access to Machu Picchu. But I was interested in where the path would ultimately have led. While landslides had destroyed much of the route, it clearly seemed to be heading across the Aobamba – and so on to Llactapata.


Kim and I walked briskly to catch the others up in the Aobamba valley. I had remembered this small tributary of the Urubamba as one of the most beautiful in the region, lush with coffee plantations and with a charming small rope bridge across the river. But the recent landslide that had destroyed the railway had also ripped out the heart of the valley, leaving a raw gash across the centre, making the landscape so unrecognisable that for a moment I questioned whether I’d even been there before.


One consequence of this was that the new rope bridge over the savagely enlarged river bed was much longer and this caused us a problem with the mules; as it swayed far more than the old one, it was impossible to get them across. Instead we had been forced to bring them round in a long loop from the other side of the valley. I remembered an incident John Leivers had told me of, when he’d got halfway across a rope bridge and had turned to see some mules inadvertently following him across without their muleteers. The swaying of the bridge frightened them and they stampeded towards John. All he could do was crush himself against the wire supports and hang on as they passed. John survived with just some bruising; in the stampede several mules fell from the bridge onto the rocks below and had to be put down.


Beyond the bridge was a steep climb of 3,000 feet through the forest to the camp. We caught up with Mike and Eddy, the Canadian film crew. Mike in particular was struggling with the climb, perhaps after the assembled rows of pisco shots from the night before. At least the sun had left the mountainside and we could walk up in the shade.


Such a climb was usually a moment of humiliation for me. While Gary prepared for our trips by running up Pikes Peak and across half Colorado, I lacked the discipline to do more than jog around the local park and have a beer to recover. But this year I’d enrolled at the local gym for some aerobics classes, figuring that as I was the only man in a group of leotarded suburban mothers, sheer embarrassment would force me to ‘keep with the programme’. It had worked. I had sweated profusely as a brisk instructor had ‘burnt’ our abdomens, thighs and legs in pitiless sequence; I was also exposed to more Phil Collins and Billy Joel than I had ever wanted in this lifetime, or the next. The compensation was that I now found I could head up the hill at a decent speed. The zigzagging steep forested path rose up through the handful of coffee plantations and smallholdings before crossing over to the broad shoulder of the campsite on the little clearing I had seen from Machu Picchu.


This was one of the oddest aspects of Llactapata – that it could be reached within a single day. The place was in sight of Machu Picchu. One might well ask why it had not been investigated more.


The answer lies partially in the inertia inherent to all archaeological enterprise. At the thought of wandering off the beaten track to look for new, uncleared sites, any investigator faces the problems of official permission, of organising the logistics – and, worse still, as I was all too aware, of total failure to find anything at all. Far easier to stick to the well-known and most accessible Inca sites, particularly as so little work has been done on even these. Machu Picchu itself remains largely unexcavated and it was only recently that a whole tranche of terraces were discovered on its northern side.


There was another odd reason why Llactapata had not been investigated before. The Paul Fejos expeditions of 1940 and 1941 had been the largest and most significant to investigate the area since Hiram Bingham. Given that Fejos had combed the area with 300 men, discovering several interesting sites like Wiñay Wayna, I had always wondered why he had never gone back to Llactapata after Bingham had declared it to be so significant.


However, Llactapata is a commonplace name in the Andes. It simply means ‘high town’ in Quechua; like ‘Newtown’ in Britain, it is therefore the default name when no one can think of anything else to call a place. There happens to be a site of the same name at the start of the Inca trail, a fact I am continually reminded of by correspondents (‘What’s so special or new about Llactapata? Hundreds of people walk through it every day’). While Bingham had never returned to the Llactapata that we were now going to investigate in the Aobamba valley, he had excavated this other Llactapata in 1915.


The Paul Fejos team simply confused the two sites. They decided not to investigate our Aobamba site because they thought, erroneously, that Bingham had already done so. In his book, Fejos states: ‘The expedition did not concern itself with the sites of Machu Picchu and Llactapata [in the Aobamba], where the Yale University–National Geographic Expedition [led by Bingham] had excavated.’ A simple accident of nomenclature had left the site virtually untouched since Bingham’s time, compounded by Bingham’s failure to leave accurate maps of how to get there.


The tents were in shadow when I arrived at the campsite, but the sun was still catching the Quechua rainbow flag on the tall pole raised by David Espejo, one of the Peruvians on the team. It also lit up Machu Picchu in its cradle between two mountains to the east; the soft evening light burnished the granite of the distant city.


I remembered the view of Machu Picchu from here as being spectacular, but only now did it become significant that it was so directly due east. The previous evening I had been looking at Llactapata from Machu Picchu – today I was returning that gaze. Kim Malville compared it to darshan, a concept I was familiar with from visits to the Hindu pilgrimage centres at the various sources of the Ganges, in which a devotee makes eye contact with a god who then returns the stare.


This valley was still a wild one. We had asked David Espejo to come up here before us and look at some ruins at the head of the valley. David was a tough and resilient guide who had travelled from one end to the other of the Vilcabamba. But he came back shocked from the reconnaissance with a report that he had been fired on by campesinos convinced he must be a cattle rustler. This had always been a rural backwater, well known as a smuggling route for coca from the jungle as it avoided the main – and policed –valley below. But the landslide and consequent shutting down of communications and access had made it more lawless.


That night we were all on a high. We expected that the next day would find us back at ‘Bingham’s Llactapata’. We broke open the vodka. By tradition we had a ‘vodka mule’ with us, loaded with a crate of Stolichnaya from the Cross Keys pub in Cuzco – for this trip, given the numbers, we had indulgently made it two crates, telling ourselves this would not then unbalance the mule. Given that we had seventeen explorers, eight muleteers and twelve horses with us, we already needed twenty-five mules to carry the other field supplies.


Crowded into the field-tent were a British contingent of six, mostly friends of mine from previous treks, five Americans who had joined Gary and Amy, several Peruvians and John Leivers as the token Australian. We had to choose the toughest person present to lead the small recce party that would next day cut its way through into the dense bush to look for the Bingham sector. Unanimously we chose John.


John Leivers had been with us to Cota Coca the previous year and had impressed Gary and me with his sturdiness and enthusiasm. Now in his early fifties, he had worked as a lifeguard on the beaches near Perth before getting the familiar Australian urge to travel; since then he had criss-crossed the world, driving Encounter Overland buses on the great transcontinental runs from Cairo to Cape Town or across South America. As almost every South American bus stopped in Cuzco, John had come to know Barry Walker, the genial host of the Cross Keys pub, Honorary British Consul and a good friend of Gary’s and mine who had helped organise our various expeditions.


Eventually the bottom had dropped out of the long-distance bus market and Encounter Overland had gone bankrupt. Barry had suggested that we take John with us to Cota Coca. Gary and I had needed little persuading when we heard that he had crossed the supposedly ‘impassable’ Darien Gap between Panama and Colombia three times, solo, and on foot. He had also paddled a dugout canoe way down the Río Napo to Iquitos and had recently climbed two 7,000-metre peaks in Kyrgyzstan.


As such, he had been an impressive addition to the team. On trek he brought just one survival-issue set of clothes. To wash them, he would simply lie down in a mountain stream and then let the clothes dry on his body. But he was not just physically tough – he had an endless curiosity about the Incas and a determination to see everything for himself, which had taken him to some out-of-the-way corners of the Vilcabamba. Often, after doing a job for Barry, he would head into the hills on his own, tramping the high country for weeks at a time, only to re-emerge in Cuzco with hair-raising descriptions of getting held up by armed robbers or running out of food in the backend of nowhere, together with a list of intriguing leads he’d made about unreported ruins that he wanted to follow up further.


The attraction John felt for the mountain culture of the Quechua Indians was reciprocated – they liked his toughness, his occasional shyness and the directness of his aims. Often they would take him in when he tramped the hills and look after him (‘I’d sleep by the door’), not least when he got ill – one occupational hazard of living rough, as John did, was that his stomach was quite often going to the cleaners’, as he put it. He could list a formidable pharmacy of antibiotics he’d been through to get recurring giardia and gastroenteritis out of his system.


Next day John went off with his small team, chosen either for toughness or because in their inexperience they didn’t realise what they were letting themselves in for. As we waited for his return, Gary and I led a group in clearing the sector we already knew of, the building I had first seen in 1982 (and which our group then, I now realised retrospectively, had been the first to report). This was familiar, if overgrown territory. Erosion of the slope had taken one side of the sector right up to a steep drop over which some buildings may have been lost in the past, and it was not an easy place to work; although at 9,000 feet we were dealing with mountain cloud-forest rather than tropical rainforest vegetation, small trees and creepers had still inserted themselves into the crevices of buildings and had to be extracted with great care.


Pío and the team of muleteers were experienced at this. They had worked with us before, and all came from the same small village higher up in the Santa Teresa valley, so they had the slowness and methodical nature of country boys, not of the Cuzco cholos who sometimes accompanied tourists and would have been ripping out trees (and doubtless stones) with abandon.


I did notice them all stopping at one point and clustering around Pío, who was reading a magazine that had been brought to camp by one of the wives who arrived intermittently with fresh supplies of food. Curious as to what they were so interested in, I went over to join them. It was a tabloid piece on Saddam Hussein, still missing after the recent invasion of Iraq. ‘ ¿Dónde se ha escondido, where’s he hidden himself?’ Pío asked me. I could not really summon up much interest; I was more worried where the ruins had hidden themselves.


There is still a widely held fantasy, encouraged by the movies, that with a few slashes of a machete the vegetation falls away from the ‘lost city’ of an art director or sub-editor’s imagination so that it can reveal itself, like a model shedding a bikini. The reality is more complex and considerably slower, more like a working party trying to clear a refuse dump. For a start, getting vegetation off and away from a site takes time – and there are inevitably layers of secondary vegetation to strip away. Anyone who has ever tried to remove anaglypta wallpaper will have some idea of the process. Even after considerable work, the shape of a site may still be unclear. In a movie, we would crane up above to see the ‘pack-shot’ of the whole site laid out below with all the neatness of an architect’s maquette. On the ground there are no such viewpoints. After cumbersome surveying, the site had to be put together painstakingly on a grid-map, a job Gary did very capably.


After a day of this we were tired. John returned with his even more exhausted group at dusk. Many of them had long creeper weals down their backs. Roz Savage, our young sponsorship organiser, later said that she would have ‘described the undergrowth as impenetrable, if it hadn’t been for the fact that we were penetrating it’. One look at their faces told me the story. John spoke very deliberately and carefully: ‘We went to the exact coordinates you gave us that Bingham had marked. There was nothing there.’


I felt that seventeen explorers, eight muleteers, twelve horses and twenty-five mules were all turning their heads to look at me. I had failed the expedition and brought everyone to the middle of the Peruvian jungle on a wild-goose chase.
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